RECEIVED

Jul 14 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County

Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ALGERNARD DEVINCENT YOUNG,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-000994

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARA M. CAUDY
Senior Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial judge abuse her discretion by admitting evidence that Appellant was physically abusive toward his ex-wife during their relationship and that his ex-wife obtained an order of protection after the couple separated because of domestic violence, since such evidence was not relevant, was improper propensity evidence, was not admissible pursuant to Rule 404(b), SCRE, was not part of the *res gestae*, and any probative value of the evidence was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Charleston County grand jury indicted Appellant on April 3, 2023, for murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 667 – 670. His case was called to trial on June 5, 2023, before the Honorable Deadra Jefferson, and a jury. R. 1. Assistant Solicitors Jessica Baldwin and Timothy Finch represented the state. Shaun Kent and Nathan Williams represented Appellant. R. 1.

On June 9, 2023, the jury found Appellant guilty as indicted. R. 603, ll. 16. He was sentenced to forty years for murder and five years concurrent for the weapons offense. R. 608, ll. 8-18.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant and Gladys Singleton knew each other for decades. Sometime in 2017, the two got married. About a week after they married, Singleton alleged Appellant became controlling and physically abusive. Consequently, a couple of months later, the two separated. Despite their separation, they had regular contact with each other. Their divorce was finalized in October 2019. Singleton alleged that after they separated, Appellant would “follow her around.” He would “pop up” wherever she was several times a week even after their divorce was final. Singleton claimed she continued to communicate with Appellant because if she did not, “he would pop up” or “be angry” and “put his hands on [her].” Appellant would show up outside her apartment, at her sister’s house, or at the bus stops along the route she drove as a driver for the public transportation system. R. 45, l. 19 – 47, l. 17; R. 62, l. 4 – 64, l. 8.

Sometime in early 2019, Singleton met David Alston, the decedent, at a laundromat. Shortly thereafter, the two started dating. After they started dating, Singleton learned Alston was married. Despite this, Singleton claimed she and Alston had a “wonderful” relationship. R. 64, l. 9 – 65, l. 14.

Singleton worked on November 15, 2019. She claimed Appellant was “calling [her] phone a lot that day” and she “was ignoring him.” Toward the end of her shift, she thought she saw Appellant’s stepfather’s car parked at the aquarium along her bus route. While she did not see Appellant, she maintained she saw “his body structure.” When Singleton got off work, she called the non-emergency line for the Charleston Police Department and asked the individual to stay on the line with her until she arrived home. She told the individual her “ex-husband was still bothering her.” Singleton claimed she was afraid Appellant was going to be at her apartment and “pop out.” R. 67, l. 12 – 69, l. 11.

When Singleton got home, she called Alston, the decedent. She told Alston that he needed to come over because she saw Appellant down by the aquarium. Alston became upset with Singleton and told her that he was tired of Singleton allowing Appellant to “control” her. Singleton told Alston that Appellant was calling her and that she planned to answer “just to see what he [Appellant] wants.” After speaking with Appellant, Singleton talked to Alston and admitted she answered Appellant’s call. Alston became upset, told Singleton “he was sick of it” and was going to bring “the stuff” she left at his house to her apartment. R. 69, l. 14 – 70, l. 4.

A short time later, Alston arrived at Singleton’s apartment. Singleton and Alston argued in the doorway and Alston left Singleton’s belongings on the ground outside her door. He then left. Singleton thought Alston would come back. However, when she looked out the window of her apartment, Alston was gone. While she was looking for Alston, Singleton allegedly saw Appellant and his stepfather’s car across the street. Appellant called Singleton again. Singleton claimed Appellant said she should have told him another man was bringing “stuff to [her] house.” Singleton hung up with Appellant and called Alston. She told Alston she thought Appellant was outside and heard them arguing. Alston, who was on his way home, said he did not care and was “not scared” of Appellant. Singleton, who saw Appellant “peel out of the parking lot,” told Alston to “be careful” because she thought Appellant was following him. According to Singleton, Appellant continued to call her phone. When they spoke, Appellant was screaming, asking her whether she loved him, and “threatening to kill her boyfriend and kill himself.” Singleton tried to calm Appellant down. R. 70, l. 15 – 72, l. 19.

While she was on the phone with Appellant, Singleton suddenly heard Appellant’s voice outside of her apartment. Appellant was trying to get Singleton to come outside and talk to him, but Singleton refused. Singleton claimed Appellant eventually said she needed to tell him about

the man bringing stuff to her apartment and that the man “had the audacity to come back to your house.” After several back and forth phone calls between Singleton and Appellant and Singleton and Alston, Singleton claimed she heard three gunshots, then Appellant scream, then several more gunshots. Singleton thought Appellant was firing into the air. She called 911 and told the dispatcher that someone was outside firing a gun. She later claimed it was her ex-husband who was shooting. R. 73, l. 22 – 78, l. 9; State’s Exhibit No. 51 (911 Call Redacted).

When law enforcement arrived, they found Alston dead in between his car and another vehicle in the parking lot. R. 161, 5-24. He suffered several gunshot wounds, including two fatal wounds to the head. R. 252, l. 1 – 257, l. 5. There were no eyewitnesses to the shooting. R. 123, ll. 22-25. Appellant was arrested roughly two hours after the shooting when he returned to Singleton’s apartment complex. R. 165, l. 5 – 166, l. 15.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Atieh, 397 S.C. 641, 647, 725 S.E.2d 730, 733 (Ct. App. 2012) (quoting State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006)) (internal quotation marks omitted). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” Id. (quoting Pagan, 369 S.C. at 208, 631 S.E.2d at 265) (internal quotation marks omitted).

ARGUMENT

The trial judge abused her discretion by admitting evidence that Appellant was physically abusive toward his ex-wife during their relationship and that his ex-wife obtained an order of protection after the couple separated because of domestic violence, since such evidence was not relevant, was improper propensity evidence, was not admissible pursuant to Rule 404(b), SCRE, was not part of the *res gestae*, and any probative value of the evidence was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE.

Relevant Facts

Appellant moved pretrial to exclude evidence that Appellant was allegedly physically abusive toward Gladys Singleton, his ex-wife, during their marriage and that Singleton had an order of protection against Appellant because of domestic violence pursuant to Rule 404(b), SCRE, and Rule 403, SCRE. Initially, Appellant moved to redact the recording of the 911 call Singleton made at 1:31 a.m. immediately after the shooting occurred. During the call, Singleton stated, “I have an order of protection against him [Appellant] from domestic violence.” See State’s Exhibit No. 51 (911 Call Redacted) at 3:12 through 3:19. Defense counsel argued the state sought to admit the evidence to show Appellant is a “bad actor towards Ms. Singleton and somehow that equates to a motive to kill Mr. Alston [the decedent].” When the trial judge asked why an order of protection constitutes a prior bad act, counsel explained that “the order of protection clearly implies that she [Singleton] was being protected from him [Appellant] from some danger, meaning that he was a dangerous person that she needed protection from.” R. 24, l. 8 – 26, l. 4.

The assistant solicitor argued the evidence was admissible to show motive. She maintained the evidence suggested Appellant shot the decedent because the decedent was

“seeing his ex-wife.” The solicitor also argued the evidence was part of the *res gestae* of the case. She asserted, “The jury needs to hear what was going on with the rest of their world and to understand why the defendant would shoot somebody who he presumably did not know.” R. 26, ll. 10-19.

Defense counsel countered that evidence of the order of protection did not link Appellant to the decedent. He argued that evidence Appellant may have harmed Singleton in the past did not suggest Appellant fatally shot the decedent. R. 26, l. 21 – 27, l. 12.

The trial judge ruled the evidence was admissible. She reasoned, “Why else would a complete stranger be in a parking lot and shoot a complete stranger? There has to be some evidentiary link, some factual link.” She found the evidence was relevant, probative, and the probative value was not outweighed by any prejudice to Appellant because counsel would have the opportunity to cross-examine Singleton and challenge her credibility. R. 27, l. 15 – 30, l. 4. However, the judge told the state to proffer any testimony from Singleton about the order of protection before Singleton testified about it before the jury. R. 30, l. 23 – 32, l. 12.

Shortly after Singleton began testifying, the assistant solicitor told the judge there was a matter of law and the judge excused the jury from the courtroom. The state then proffered Singleton’s testimony about her relationship with Appellant. Singleton testified *in camera* that Appellant was verbally and physically abusive, controlling, and “started following [her] around” after they got married. According to Singleton, this behavior continued after Appellant and Singleton separated.

After the proffer, defense counsel stated he only objected to Singleton’s testimony that Appellant was physically abusive. Counsel asserted the objection was similar to Appellant’s objection to Singleton’s statement during the 911 call that she had an order of protection due to

domestic violence. Counsel argued the evidence was not relevant because whether Appellant was physically abusive toward Singleton in the past did not make it “more probable” that Appellant shot the decedent. He contended the evidence was highly prejudicial and should be excluded pursuant to Rule 404(b), SCRE, and Rule 403, SCRE. R. 50, l. 13 – 51, l. 6.

The assistant solicitor argued the evidence that Appellant was physically abusive toward Singleton was necessary to explain why Singleton continued to communicate with Appellant. R. 51, ll. 8-14.

The trial judge found evidence that Appellant was physically abusive toward Singleton was admissible pursuant to Rule 404(b) to show motive, intent, absence of mistake or accident, and even identity. The judge further found the probative value of the evidence was not outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. The judge concluded the evidence was relevant and probative to show why Appellant would have shot the decedent. R. 51, l. 17 – 53, l. 22.

Singleton testified before the jury that Appellant was physically abusive, controlling, and followed her around. This behavior started about a week after they got married and continued even after they separated. R. 62, l. 4 – 63, l. 19. Singleton claimed that she continued to communicate with Appellant because if she did not “he would be angry, sometimes put his hands on [her].” R. 63, l. 22 – 64, l. 3.

When the state later sought to admit the recording of Singleton’s 911 call, which was marked as State’s Exhibit No. 51, the trial judge stated, “Marked and admitted subject to the objection and the Court’s earlier ruling.” R. 79, ll. 5-9.

Discussion

The trial judge abused her discretion by admitting evidence that Appellant was physically abusive toward Gladys Singleton, his ex-wife, during their relationship and that Singleton

obtained an order of protection after the couple separated because of domestic violence, since the evidence was not relevant, was improper propensity evidence, was not admissible pursuant to Rule 404(b), SCRE, was not part of the *res gestae*, and any probative value of the evidence was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE.

As a general rule, all relevant evidence is admissible. Rule 402, SCRE. “‘Relevant evidence’ means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” Rule 401, SCRE. “Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice . . .” Rule 403, SCRE. Unfair prejudice pursuant to Rule 403 “is the tendency of the evidence to suggest a decision based on something other than the legitimate probative force of the evidence.” State v. Phillips, 430 S.C. 319, 328, 844 S.E.2d 651, 656 (2020) (citing State v. Gray, 408 S.C. 601, 616, 759 S.E.2d 160, 168 (Ct. App. 2014)); See State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 623, 703 S.E.2d 226, 228-229 (2010).

Evidence that Appellant was physically abusive toward Singleton in the past and that Singleton obtained an order of protection against Appellant due to domestic violence was not relevant as to whether Appellant shot and killed the decedent. The allegations of physical abuse and evidence of the order of protection did not make it more probable or less probable that Appellant was the shooter. For the same reasons, the evidence was not probative. It did not help the jury decide whether Appellant was guilty of murder. However, the evidence was unfairly prejudicial to Appellant because it suggested he was a bad person, the type of person who would kill his ex-lover’s new boyfriend. Accordingly, any probative value of the evidence was clearly outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.

“Rule 404(b) prevents the State from introducing evidence of a defendant’s other crimes for the purpose of proving his propensity to commit the crime for which he is currently on trial.” State v. Perry, 430 S.C. 24, 30, 842 S.E.2d 654, 657 (2020). “South Carolina law precludes evidence of a defendant’s prior crimes or other bad acts to prove the defendant’s guilt for the crime charged except to establish (1) motive, (2) intent, (3) the absence of mistake or accident, (4) a common scheme or plan, or (5) the identity of the perpetrator.” State v. King, 334 S.C. 504, 512, 514 S.E.2d 578, 582 (1999) (citing Rule 404(b), SCRE, and State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923)). “As a threshold matter, the trial court must determine whether the proffered evidence is relevant as required under Rule 401, SCRE.” State v. Cope, 405 S.C. 317, 337, 748 S.E.2d 194, 204 (2013) (citing State v. Clasby, 385 S.C. 148, 154, 682 S.E.2d 892, 895 (2009)). “If the trial court finds the evidence is relevant, it must then determine whether the bad act evidence fits within an exception in Rule 404(b).” Id.

“To be admissible, the bad act must logically relate to the crime with which the defendant has been charged.” Clasby, 385 S.C. at 155, 682 S.E.2d at 895 (quoting State v. Gaines, 380 S.C. 23, 29, 667 S.E.2d 728, 731 (2008) (internal quotation marks omitted). “If the defendant was not convicted of the prior crime, evidence of the prior bad act must be clear and convincing.” Cope, 405 S.C. at 337, 748 S.E.2d at 204 (quoting Gaines, 380 S.C. at 29, 667 S.E.2d at 731) (internal quotation marks omitted). “Even if prior bad act evidence is clear and convincing and falls within an exception, it must be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice to the defendant.” Cope, 405 S.C. at 337-38, 748 S.E.2d at 204-05 (citing Clasby, 385 S.C. at 155, 682 S.E.2d at 896); See Rule 403, SCRE. “Unfair prejudice means ‘an undue tendency to suggest [a] decision on an improper basis, commonly, though not necessarily, an emotional one.’” State v. Sweat, 362 S.C. 117, 128, 606 S.E.2d 508, 514 (Ct.

App. 2004) (quoting State v. Alexander, 303 S.C. 377, 382, 401 S.E.2d 146, 149 (1991)) (alteration in original).

The *res gestae* theory “recognizes evidence of other bad acts may be an integral part of the crime with which the defendant is charged, or may be needed to aid the fact finder in understanding the context in which the crime occurred.” King, 334 S.C. at 512, 514 S.E.2d at 582 (citing State v. Adams, 322 S.C. 114, 470 S.E.2d 366 (1996), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Giles*, 407 S.C. 14, 754 S.E.2d 261 (2014)). Our Supreme Court explained the theory of *res gestae* in Adams:

One of the accepted bases for the admissibility of evidence of other crimes arises when such evidence “furnishes part of the context of the crime” or is necessary to a “full presentation” of the case, or is so intimately connected with and explanatory of the crime charged against the defendant and is so much a part of the setting of the case and its “environment” that its proof is appropriate in order “to complete the story of the crime on trial by proving its immediate context or the ‘res gestae’” or the “uncharged offense is ‘so linked together in point of time and circumstances with the crime charged that one cannot be fully shown without proving the other ...’ [and is thus] part of the *res gestae* of the crime charged.” And where evidence is admissible to provide this “full presentation” of the offense, “[t]here is no reason to fragmentize the event under inquiry” by suppressing parts of the “*res gestae*.”

Adams, 322 S.C. at 122, 470 S.E.2d at 370-71 (quoting United States v. Masters, 622 F.2d 83, 86 (4th Cir. 1980)) (alterations in original). “Under this theory, it is important that the temporal proximity of the prior bad act be closely related to the charged crime.” King, 334 S.C. at 513, 514 S.E.2d at 583 (citing State v. Hough, 325 S.C. 88, 480 S.E.2d 77 (1997)).

In State v. Sweat, 362 S.C. 117, 606 S.E.2d 508 (Ct. App. 2004), this Court affirmed the admission of evidence of a prior bad act of domestic violence pursuant to Rule 404(b), and as part of the *res gestae*. Sweat was charged with first degree burglary, assault and battery with intent to kill, and three counts of assault of a high and aggravated nature after he invaded a home occupied by his estranged wife, her boyfriend, and several others on December 11, 2001. Sweat,

362 S.C. at 121-22, 606 S.E.2d at 510-11. The state introduced testimony from Sweat's estranged wife about a domestic violence incident that took place two months earlier in October 2001. Id. at 122, 606 S.E.2d at 511. Sweat's wife reported the prior incident to law enforcement and Sweat spent forty-five days in jail. Id. While he was in jail, Sweat's wife ended their relationship and became romantically involved with another man. Id.

This Court held the prior episode of domestic violence was admissible under Rule 404(b) as evidence of motive and intent. Id. at 124, 606 S.E.2d at 512. The Court found from the October incident that the jury could have inferred both (1) motive—that Sweat was driven by anger over his estranged wife causing him to go to jail and terminating their relationship; and (2) intent—that Sweat maliciously sought to inflict harm upon his estranged wife and her boyfriend. Id. at 126, 606 S.E.2d at 513. This Court held the evidence was relevant because it tended to make the state's version of the case more probable and was logically related to why Sweat went to the house that night and to his intentions once there. Id. at 127, 606 S.E.2d at 514.

Additionally, this Court held the evidence was admissible as part of the *res gestae* and was properly admitted to "complete the story of the crime on trial." Id. at 133, 606 S.E.2d at 517. The Court concluded that the October incident, and the events that followed, including Sweat's estranged wife moving out and ending their relationship, provided the jury with "an appropriate context in which to place the December 11 attack." Id.

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