RECEIVED

Jun 02 2025

SC Court of Appeals

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

Appeal from Charleston County
The Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2023-000994

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

ALGERNARD DEVINCENT YOUNG,

Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

J. ANTHONY MABRY
Senior Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 11973

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

HON. SCARLETT WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit
101 Meeting Street, Ste 400
Charleston, South Carolina 29401-2214

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

of the crime.”). Young’s prior actions during the marriage, including his controlling behavior, possessiveness, verbal abuse, physical abuse, and following Gladys led to the separation and Gladys testified the same conduct continued after the separation and even after the divorce and was part of the entire scenario leading up to the stalking of Gladys’ on the night before the victim Alston was murdered and on the night of the victim Alston’s murder. The prior restraining order mentioned in the 911 call also showed the same or similar conduct, that Young was the aggressor and Gladys was merely trying to protect herself from Young, when Young murdered the victim Alston this case. *See State v. Johnson*, 439 S. C. 331, 887 S.E.2d 127(2023) (defendant’s acts in Dillon and Marlboro Counties most definitely provides context to the Marion County domestic violence case); *State v. Wood*, 362 S.C. 520, 528, 608 S.E.2d 435, 439 (Ct. App. 2004)(defendant’s murder of trooper 2 hours earlier was *res gestae* of failure to stop for a blue light and AWIK trial in another county); *State v. Hough*, 325 S.C. 88, 480 S.E.2d 77 (1997)(defendant’s act after the crime of purchasing crack cocaine with money from the armed robbery for which he was on trial was part of the *res gestae* of the crime). Moreover, the probative value of the evidence was not substantially outweighed the danger of its prejudicial effect. *See Owens*, 346 S.C. at 653, 552 S.E.2d at 753; *Wood*, 362 S.C. at 527–29, 608 S.E.2d at 439–40.

In fact, Young’s actions on previous occasions during the marriage, separation, and after the divorce toward Gladys are all part of the *res gestae* of these crimes in this case because they continued up the night of the crime, November 15th/16th, 2019. *United States v. Wright*, 392 F.3d 1269, 1276 (11th Cir.2004); (“[E]vidence of [defendant’s resistance to arrest] prior to the discovery of the firearm gives the jury the body of the story, not just the ending. Such evidence was ‘inextricably intertwined’ with the charged offense.”); *State v. Peltier*, 116 A.3d 150, 155-56 (R.I. 2015)(Simply because the challenged testimony occurred moments after Peltier assaulted Thurber

does not change the fact that the acts were related “closely in both time and place” and were “intricately interwoven” with the crime on trial).

Here, Young was on trial for the murder of his ex-wife’s new boyfriend that was the result of years of stalking and abuse of Gladys. The murder of the victim was as a direct result of the abusive relationship between Young and his ex-wife Gladys. It was necessary for a full presentation of the case and for context, for the jury to understand the full nature of the relationship between Gladys and Young. In fact, the defense only objects the generic statement that Young became “physically abusive” during the marriage and thereafter and that Gladys obtained a restraining order on Young before the date of the murder because of domestic violence.¹² As a result, the entirety of the prior behavior was admissible as *res gestae* of the crime, especially where the incident the night of the murders was directly related to the prior behavior of Young during the marriage and thereafter and up to the night of the crime. Adams, 322 S.C. at 122, 470 S.E.2d at 370-71 (evidence of other crimes is admissible when it furnishes the context of the crime or is necessary for a full presentation of the case and is necessary to complete the story of the crime on trial by proving its context); Sweat (prior act of domestic abuse gave victim opportunity to escape her relationship with defendant; as a result she moved out, and he spent time in jail; he was upset, and 11 days after his release the crimes for which he was on trial occurred; the October abuse and events that followed provided the fact finder with an appropriate context in which to place the later attack).¹³

¹² Young does not object to the testimony of Gladys that Young’s behavior became different 1 week after they were married and he became controlling, possessive, verbally abusive and followed Gladys around. Nor does Young object to the fact that Gladys testified he began engaging in conduct that constituted stalking after they separated up to and including the night of the crime. (IBOA, pp. 1-16).

¹³ See also King, 334 S.C. at 512, 514 S.E.2d at 582 (*res gestae* recognizes evidence of other bad acts may be an integral part of the crime or may be needed to aid the fact finder in understanding

Young's murder of his ex-wife's new boyfriend was directly related to why Young and Gladys separated and then divorced and why Young was stalking Gladys. It was necessary for a full presentation of the case and for context, for the jury to understand the full nature of the relationship between Young and Gladys, including the prior abuse leading up to their breakup, which eventually led to Young stalking the victim Gladys and eventually directly led to Young murdering David Alston. As a result, the evidence of why Gladys left Young and why Young continued to stalk Gladys and how she had a restraining order on him was admissible as *res gestae* of the crime, especially where it all led to Young murdering Alston.

In this case, the acts were not so remote as to be unfairly prejudicial and require exclusion under Rule 403, SCRE. Sweat, 362 S.C. 117, 606 S.E.2d 508 (prior CDV 2 months before murder was not too remote and was admissible); Beck, *supra* (4 months between statement or threat and the crime went only to the weight of the evidence not its admissibility); Glenn, *supra* (statements made by defendant 1 year before the incident, were relevant where the defendant was accused of injuring his victim in the same manner); Cooley (where son's testimony about father's domestic abuse of mother was over 2 years prior to the date of the killing **and** son had not lived with his parents since then, son's testimony should have been excluded under Rule 403); King. 334 S.C.

the context in which the crime occurred.); Wiles, 383 S.C. at 158-59, 679 S.E.2d at 176 (evidence of other crimes which supplies the context of the crime, or is intimately connected with and explanatory of the crime, is admissible as *res gestae*); State v. Martucci, 380 S.C 232, 669 S.E.2d 598 (Ct. App. 2008)(admission of prior incidents of abuse or neglect was needed to present overall view of the facts and to provide context in which the crime occurred, and demonstrated the culminating impact upon the child; evidence regarding the prior bad acts was relevant to show the complete, whole story relating to the charge of homicide by child abuse; *See State v. Bolden* 303 S.C. 41, 43, n. 1, 398 S.E.2d 494 (1990) (noting *res gestae* does not fit squarely within any of the 5 categories in Lyle); State v. Smith, 309 S.C. 442, 451, 424 S.E.2d 496, 501 (1996) (Toal, J. dissenting)(although there is some overlap between *Lyle* and the *res gestae*, *res gestae* is a separate method where other evidence of criminal acts can be admitted).

504, 514 S.E.2d 578 (excluding evidence of Defendant's bad acts that occurred more than 1 year before the crime on trial).

Here, it was necessary for a full presentation of the case and for context, for the jury to understand Young's conduct, which stemmed from his inability to deal with the separation and divorce from Gladys, led directly to the murder of the victim David Austin. As a result, the evidence was admissible as *res gestae* of the crime, especially where at autopsy the victim was found to be shot multiple times including 2 times in the head which Young promised Gladys right before he committed the murder that he would do and Alston's murder was a direct result of Young's jealous, controlling, and abusive relationship with Gladys. Adams, 322 S.C. at 122, 470 S.E.2d at 370-71; Sweat (prior act of domestic abuse gave victim opportunity to escape her relationship with defendant; as a result she moved out, and he spent time in jail; he was upset, and 11 days after his release the crimes for which he was on trial occurred; the October abuse and events that followed provided the fact finder with an appropriate context in which to place the later attack upon the victim and her new boyfriend). *See also* King, 334 S.C. at 512, 514 S.E.2d at 582 (*res gestae* recognizes evidence of other bad acts may be an integral part of the crime or may be needed to aid the fact finder in understanding the context in which the crime occurred.); Wiles, 383 S.C. at 158-59, 679 S.E.2d at 176 (evidence of other crimes which supplies the context of the crime, or is intimately connected with and explanatory of the crime, is admissible as *res gestae*); Martucci, 380 S.C. 232, 669 S.E.2d 598 (Ct. App. 2008)(prior incidents of abuse or neglect was needed to present overall view of the facts and to provide context in which the crime occurred, and demonstrated the culminating impact upon the child; evidence regarding the prior bad acts was relevant to show the complete, whole story relating to the charge of homicide by child abuse); *See State v. Bolden*, 303 S.C. 41, 43, n. 1, 398 S.E.2d 494 (1990) (noting *res gestae* does not fit squarely

within any of the 5 categories in Lyle): Smith, 309 S.C. at 451, 424 S.E.2d at 501 (1996)(Toal, J. dissenting)(although there is some overlap between Lyle and *res gestae*, *res gestae* is a separate method where other evidence of criminal acts can be admitted).

Harmless error

Even assuming *arguendo* error in admitting any of the challenged evidence, it was harmless and could not have affected the verdict. “Error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt where it did not contribute to the verdict obtained.” State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 212, 631 S.E.2d 262, 267 (2006); *See* State v. Liverman, 398 S.C. 130, 727 S.E.2d 422 (2012)(admission of evidence can be harmless where testimony was similar to testimony of another witness admitted at trial); State v. Page, 378 S.C. 476, 483-84, 663 S.E.2d 357, 360 (Ct. App. 2008)(error is harmless where it could not reasonably have affected the trial’s outcome, and considering as 1 factor whether the evidence was cumulative to other testimony). This Court will not set aside a conviction for an insubstantial error not affecting the result when guilt is conclusively proven by competent evidence and no other rational conclusion could be reached. State v. Kelley, 319 S.C. 173, 460 S.E.2d 368 (1995); State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989).

The admission of the generic testimony of “physical abuse” during the marriage in 2017 and thereafter and the statement on the 911 tape that Gladys had a restraining order on Young for domestic violence was harmless. (June 5-6, 2023, Tr. 111, ln. 18 -112, ln.8; State’s Ex. 51, redacted 911 call). There was other un-objected to testimony of Gladys that after the separation and the divorce Young would call Gladys’ repeatedly and if she did not answer he would appear wherever she was and lay hands on her. (June 5-6, 2023, Tr. 113, ll. 1-3). Gladys testified she would answer the repeated phone calls to keep Young from appearing out of nowhere and putting his hands on her. (June 5-6, Tr. 112, ln. 22 – 113, ln. 3). Further, in the 1st 911 call, to the non-emergency

number, Gladys told the 911 operator that her husband was “bothering her” again. (June 5, 2023, Tr. 117, ln. 23 – ln. 8). Furthermore, Young had no objection to, and evidence was admitted, that after the first week of their marriage, Young became controlling, possessive, verbally abusive, and bothered Gladys. (June 5, 2023, Tr. 67, ll. 1-4; 99, ln. 18-100, ln. 6; 111-112). Gladys testified without objection that this conduct continued after the separation and even after the divorce. (June 5-6, 2023, Tr. 111-12). Gladys also testified without objection, Young would call her phone repeatedly during the day or night, i.e. telephone harassment, a crime. Gladys testified if she did not answer Young’s repeated phone calls, he would “pop up” wherever she was, at her apartment, on her job, and even at her sister’s residence, basically stalking her, also a crime. (June 5-6, 2023, 112-13). Gladys testified without objection she had talked to police officers about Young’s bothering or stalking her and they told her she needed to put surveillance cameras in to catch Young so they could arrest him, and the victim David Alston had bought her some indoor surveillance cameras. (June 5-6, 2023, Tr. 123, ll. 2-10). Gladys testified that after the divorce, the day before the victim’s death, Young had been calling her all day, but she had refused to answer his calls. (June 5-6, 2023, Tr. 116-117). Young elicited testimony from the detective that the detective obtained an arrest warrant against Young for “stalking” for Young’s behavior toward Gladys on November 14, 15, 16, 2019. (Tr. 294; 305). Gladys testified without objection that the major difference between the victim David Alston and Young was David was kind to her, listened to her, and did not beat her. (June 5-6, 2023, Tr. 217, ll. 9-15). And, Gladys testified that on the night before the victim’s murder, Young was stalking her again on her bus route, and she called non-emergency 911 and asked them to stay on the line until she could get home safely. (June 5-6, 2023, Tr. 118-19). It is clear from this call that Young had been harassing or bothering Gladys before this night. (June 5-6, 2023, Tr. 118-19). Further, Gladys testified to Young stalking her when she

got home, he immediately started calling her while she was inside her apartment, and he called her immediately after the murder. (June 5-6, 2023, Tr. 118-26). The objected to testimony was similar to other evidence admitted without objection. See Liverman, *supra* (evidence can be harmless where testimony was similar to testimony of another witness); Page, 378 S.C. at 483-84, 663 S.E.2d 357 (error is harmless where it could not reasonably have affected the outcome, and considering as 1 factor the evidence was cumulative); State v. Brewer, 411 S.C. 401, 409-410, 768 S.E.2d 656, 660 (2015); State v. Kirton, 381 S.C. 7, 37, 671 S.E.2d 107, 122 (Ct. App. 2008)(the admission of improper evidence is harmless where the evidence is merely cumulative to other evidence).

Furthermore, there was other evidence of Young's guilt establishing his guilt beyond a reasonable doubt such that no other rational conclusion could have been reached. This included Gladys' testimony of the entire relationship with Young that was not objected to including Young's controlling, possessive, and verbally abusive nature, and how Young harassed her by phone and stalked her for months and years leading up to the murder of Alston. This also included Gladys' entire testimony of Young stalking her on the night before the crime on her bus route and to her apartment complex including the threats he made to kill her and her new boyfriend. This also included the 2nd 911 call itself which was an excited utterance and present sense impression, the testimony of her roommate Brandon Maybank, Gladys' identification of Young's voice at the time of the murder, the CSLI placing Young stalking Gladys that night, placing Young at the crime scene at the time of the murder, and returning to the scene when he was arrested, the fact that Young changed cell phones 3 different times during the night, his wet black clothes found in his real home, the GSR found on Young's hand, the victim, and in Young's car, the fact that Young gave a false name when walking up to the crime scene 2 ½ hours later, and his false statements to the police

about where he lived and his whereabouts on the night of the crime that did not match up with his cell site information or Gladys' testimony. State v. Gillian, 360 S.C. 433, 602 S.E.2d 62 (Ct. App. 2004), *affirmed*, 373 S.C. 601, 646 S.E.2d 872 (2007)(Although trial judge erred in not limiting the amount of the evidence presented as to bad acts, such error was harmless, where other evidence established defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt). As a result of the other evidence of guilt, any error in the admission of the challenged evidence was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt on this record. State v. Brown, 424 S.C. 479, 493, 818 S.E.2d 735, 743 (2018)("Where 'guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached,' an insubstantial error that does not affect the result of the trial is considered harmless.") (quoting State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 447, 710 S.E.2d 55, 60 (2011)).

CONCLUSION

For the above stated reasons, Young's conviction and sentence for the murder of David Alston must be affirmed.